Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1980

Arnold Machinery Company v. David M. Balls and Richard S. Johns Ii, Co-Partners, Dba Utah Excavating: Appellant'S Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action wherein plaintiff seeks to recover unpaid rentals, pursuant to an equipment rental agreement, in the amount of \$13,889.64, together with interest and attorney's fees and to recover the sum of \$127.35 for repair work.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The court, sitting without a jury, ruled that the equipment lease was as a matter of law a security instrument and that the Uniform Commercial Code transformed the lease into a conditional sales contract and that since there was no compliance with the terms of the Uniform Commercial Code relating to conditional sales contracts, plaintiff could not recover unpaid rentals. The court only allowed recovery of \$127.35 for repair costs on the second claim.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment relating to rentals and a remand of the action to the District Court

with the direction to enter judgment in the amount of \$13,889.64 together with interest, and together with such reasonable attorney's fees as the lower court shall determine.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff-appellant Arnold Machinery Company (Arnold) is and was in the business of both selling and leasing equipment (T. 108). Defendant-respondent Utah Excavating, a partnership, was in the excavating business. It had a job on which a backhoe was needed. Arnold had one in inventory and representatives of Arnold and Utah Excavating discussed the alternatives of purchasing or renting one (T. 110). A lease agreement instead of a purchase agreement is often entered into if the contractor is not sure how long his work will last (T. 123), even though financially able to purchase. For those in the position of Utah Excavating, of not being financially able to purchase, entering into a lease is a common transaction (T. 134-135).

If the backhoe were to be purchased, a twenty-percent down payment, or approximately \$20,000 would have been required (T. 111). Utah Excavating did not have the funds for a down payment, nor were they sure if their work would last long enough to warrant purchasing the equipment. The evidence was:

Q. Did you express to their salesman what your objective was in coming to them?

- A. Yes
- Q. What was that?
- A. That we were interested in obtaining a backhoe so that we could use it to perform work that we had more or less had committed to us if we had that type of equipment.

(Johns of Utah Excavating T. 169)

A. We wanted a piece of equipment similar to this because we had work to do with it. And because of our financial condition, not having sufficient money to make a down payment and being aware that these kinds of alternatives to purchase were available, we elected to use that kind of an arrangement rather than have to come up with that much capital at that time in order to get the equipment to put it to use.

(Johns of Utah Excavating T. 195)

In lieu of buying the backhoe, it was decided that it would be rented for a long enough period to determine whether or not the work would last and to permit them to acquire from the work sufficient funds to make a down payment. If the work lasted and if they acquired funds for a down payment, it was then the intent of the parties that a conditional sales contract would be substituted for a rental agreement.

* * *They then, of course, decided they did not have the money for a down payment, nor were they sure if the type of work they had was going to last for this two or three-year period. So in lieu of buying the piece of equipment we then elected to rent it to them until they found out if the work was going to hold out, and also they could use the rental payments by which to acquire a down payment and then put it on to a conditional sales contract.

(Byerline of Arnold T. 110, 111)

- A. The other option is the so-called lease where we would make an established payment for a given period of time, hopefully with the end result being that we would then acquire sufficient equity in that machine to allow us to obtain financing.* * *
- A. We could convert to a purchase. We could actually purchase that machine. We would have acquired a down payment through the money that we had paid over the period of six months, so that we would then be able to actually purchase that machine.* * *
- A. Not that I recall. He indicated that there would be a six-month minimum. We would have to pay the six-month payments, and if we desired to continue longer we could, but it was to our advantage to convert to a purchase as quickly as we possibly could because of the finance charges, and we were also making payments that were really quite high, * * *

(Johns of Utah Excavating T. 171)

* * * But we knew we didn't have the 20 percent, or ten percent required down payment, so we could see that this was a viable way for us to obtain the equipment we wanted, to get it right to work, and have it earn for us the money we needed to make the down payment so that we could eventually finance it.

(Johns of Utah Excavating T. 172)

Thus, a rental agreement was entered into (Ex. 1-P, T. 112) instead of a conditional sales contract. The rental agreement was accompanied by an option to purchase which provided that rental payments could be applied against the purchase price. (Ex. 2-P) Arnold's experience in rentals such as this was that only twenty to twenty-five percent of those renting

equipment exercised their option to purchase (T. 114). The parties treated the transaction as a lease. Arnold paid its supplier-manufacturer Drott only upon a subsequent sale of the backhoe to Salt Lake County, whereas it would have had to pay Drott upon execution of the rental agreement, had the rental been a sale. (T. 161). Arnold took the depreciation of the backhoe on its corporate books for the rental period. (T. 114). Arnold made major repairs at its expense during the rental period and, in fact, acquired and paid for parts needed for such repairs (T. 299). Utah Excavating, instead of depreciating the backhoe as if it owned it, expensed rental payments (T. 211).

The parties contemplated that a six-month period was a long enough one for Utah Excavating both to determine whether or not their work warranted the purchase of the equipment and to pay rentals in a sufficient amount to enable Utah Excavating to terminate the lease and enter into a conditional sales contract applying the rental payments as a down payment on the conditional sales contract. Utah Excavating's testimony relating thereto is as follows:

A. As we discussed this option with Arnold Machinery, the kind of language that was used was to the effect that we would go on accruing our down payment as we were making these payments towards this so-called lease, so that we would be able to then at the end of the six months have sufficient money to make the down payment.

- Q. And the lease would have been terminated and the conditional sales contract would have then been entered into, right?
- A. That is correct.

 (Johns of Utah Excavating T. 208)
- Q. The option not to buy presently, but to buy six months later, right?
- A. The option to have this piece of Equipment to use and to accrue money during the time we were using it so that we would be able to eventually make this other arrangement, this purchase.

(Johns of Utah Excavating T. 209)

- Q. That may be. Did you feel that you were bound to * * * do anything more than pay the six-month rental? * * *
- A. That is correct.

(Johns of Utah Excavating T. 210)

A. * * * But we knew we didn't have the 20 percent, or ten percent required down payment, so we could see that this was a viable way for us to obtain the equipment we wanted, to get it right to work, and have it earn for us the money we needed to make the down payment so that we could eventually finance it.

(Balls of Utah Excavating T. 172)

Q. You didn't have an intention at the time you entered into the rental agreement, and the option agreement, to continue with that type of agreement for an indefinite period of time, did you?

- A. No. We wanted to purchase the machine as quickly as possible. * * *
- A. But we were going to do it for the six months and then we were going to pay Arnold Machinery the balance.

(Balls of Utah Excavating T. 268, 269)

Utah Excavating's excavation work did not develop as it had anticipated, and it became delinquent in rental payments (T. 204). Arnold requested payment, and its salesman testified as to collection efforts:

A. Basically just requests for payment, and of course they would keep promising us they would have money coming in off of their jobs, and we went along and worked with them as best we possibly could and left the machine out so they could still work it. But this went on several times.

(Welch of Arnold T. 317)

When the collection efforts failed, Mr. Johns of Utah Excavating concluded that Utah Excavating was unable to finance the purchase of the backhoe, and so Utah Excavating did not attempt to purchase the machine. He testified:

- Q. * * * When did you wish to exercise the option, at the end of the six months?
- A. We had intended to do that. However at the end of the six months we had not made six payments. We didn't feel like we could obtain the finan-

cing at that time with the little amount that we had accrued, so we didn't even attempt to finance the machine at the end of six months.

(T. 212)

Utah Excavating concluded it would have to "forget it." The Arnold representative testified:

- Q. All right. State what was said concerning termination, Arnold terminating?
- A. Basically it was that we couldn't release the machine back to them unless the back payments were caught up. That was the basis of all of the conversations. And we would work with them the best we possibly could if he would catch his payments up.

(Welch of Arnold T. 320)

A. The last conversation that I finally had with Mr. Balls, I told him it was subject to future rental and that we did have people looking to rent this machine. And he finally told me that he did not have the money. In his words, 'I guess I will have to forget it.'

(Welch of Arnold T. 318)

The parties all intended that the conversion of the lease to a sale would occur six months after the lease was executed (T. 171, 172, 196, 208, 209, 210).

The parties discussed what would happen if the lease went beyond six months by one or two months. It was decided that it could go on a little longer. Mr. Johns testified:

A. No. This was, it was a six-month agreement, but the way the discussion went at that time if we didn't feel at the end of six months that we had enough money accrued into the thing, or we wanted to pay a few more months and keep the mach-

ine before we converted to the purchase situation, we could have gone on a little longer.

(T. 237)

- A. We intended to buy the machine at the end of six months, right.
- Q. At the end of six months. Now as I recall you said probably Mr. Byerline indicated that if it went over the six months by one or two months that that would be all right. Was there a conversation to that effect?
- A. Yes. * * *

(T. 266)

However, Johns, the partner in Utah Excavating handling its financial affairs did not contemplate at the time the lease was entered into what the machine would be worth after the six-month rental period. He was thinking of conversion to a conditional sales contract at the end of a 6-month's lease. He testified:

- Q. Did you form an expectation as to what the equipment, or an anticipation as to what the equipment, would be worth after one year?
- A. No. I don't recall having done that.

(T. 190)

Utah Excavating became delinquent. It paid only \$12,823.29 (Ex. D9) of the agreed six months' rentals of \$23,400. Had the rentals been paid and the option to purchase exercised, a conditional sales contract would then have been entered into

and the lease would have been terminated (T. 112). The \$23,400 rental payments would have been shown as a down payment and the remaining \$72,736.50 would have been the unpaid contract balance amount (T. 86, 132). (That remaining contract balance takes into account the cost of repairs and the option charge of 1-1/4% per month, both of which under the option agreement were to be added to the \$92,220 option price, Ex. 2-P,)

After Utah Excavating could go no further and had terminated the lease after approximately 8 months (T. 319, 318), Arnold rented the backhoe to Salt Lake County. The rental agreement was accompanied by an option to purchase for \$85,000, plus \$850 per month option charge. (T. 160). The County paid four months rental totaling \$15,600 (T. 154) and then determined that it wanted to purchase the equipment. Under its option agreement it would have had to have paid \$85,000 plus an option charge of \$3,400, less rental payments of \$15,600 or a balance of \$72,800 (T. 121-122). Instead of exercising its option to purchase, the County advertised for bids for supplying a backhoe, and Arnold submitted a bid for \$66,400 (Ex. 6, T. 127). The County accepted this bid as being the lowest bid for a machine of acceptable quality, and the County paid \$66,400 for the machine. There thus was no exercise of the County's option to purchase, which would have entailed the larger sum to purchase the property.

The lease to Utah Excavating provided:

Arnold Machinery Company...hereby leases to Utah Excavating...for a minimum period of six months and, thereafter until the equipment is returned or until the lessor terminates the lease, the equipment hereinafter described, according to the terms and provisions hereinafter stated....(Ex. 1-P)

The Court construed that provision as meaning that the lease continued in effect until there was a breach by either party of the terms and conditions of the lease. The Court said:

THE COURT:

So what my immediate interpretation of that, yet it is a six-month lease but it continued thereafter unless either of the parties terminates it according to the terms of the lease which is stated hereafter in the lease. Or on the back of the lease.

MR. LOWE:

Is Your Honor construing this lease as going on forever insofar as Arnold Machinery is concerned, and at the whim of the lessee to terminate it otherwise? I don't think could be a reasonable construction, Your Honor.

MR. RICHARDS:

I certainly do, Your Honor.

THE COURT:

Just a minute. Just a minute. My immediate construction right now is that if the parties remain current in their payments that this lease could have gone on indefinitely, under the wording of this particular lease, unless they vio-

lated one of the provisions hereinafter provided for in the lease. And if they violate those provisions then they have cause or grounds to set it aside. I think that was the intent of the parties. It appears from the testimony that I have heard in this matter thus far

MR. LOWE:

The testimony has always been, Your Honor, that neither of these defendants thought that it would, expected that it would go on for more than six months. At that point they intended to convert it into a, not a lease but a conditional sales contract. And the Court, I think, should look at those circumstances in construing whether or not this lease was intended by the parties to go on forever.

THE COURT:

I think you're correct when you state, of course, that the testimony is that they expect to convert it. But I think under the terms of the lease, if that expectation didn't materialize, they could have continued to lease it. So based on that the Court would allow, would overrule the objection and allow, the witness to answer the question.

(T. 311, 312)

The Court then felt that it was a waste of Court's time to consider the intention of the parties at the time the equipment lease agreement was entered into that the option should be exercised in six months. The Court said:

MR. DIBBLEE:

Well, I mean I didn't, I thought that that issue was more or less concluded and there wasn't any sense of wasting the Court's time.

THE COURT:

I think it really is myself * * *.

The Court thereupon considered not just the cost of exercising the option to purchase at the expiration of six months when the parties intended that the option should be exercised, which was \$76,473.46, (T. 90), but over objection admitted evidence relating to figures one, two and three years later. Mathematical calculations were carried out to the point at which rental payments - had the lease continued long enough and had rental payments been made - would have exceeded the option purchase price of \$92,220 (T. 90-92). The court considered, also over objection, the value of the machine at the date three years later when rentals would have exceeded the value of the machine (T. 299-314).

ARGUMENT

I. THE LEASE WAS NOT IN PERPETUITY

The lower court concluded that it deemed the lease to be one in which the lessee was bound for only six months and then could terminate at any time without cause, but that the lessor could only terminate the lease for cause, or that both parties could terminate only for cause, and if there were no cause that it would have run forever. Such a result appears to be a most unreasonable one. The pertinent part of the lease is as follows:

Arnold Machinery Company, Inc., a Utah corporation whose address is 2975 West 21st So., Salt Lake City, County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, hereinafter called the lessor, hereby leases to Utah Excavating whose address is 4591 Holly Lane, City of Salt Lake, County of Salt

Lake, State of Utah 84117, hereinafter called the lessee, for a minimum period of six months and thereafter until the equipment is returned or until lessor terminates the lease, the equipment hereinafter described, according to the terms and provisions hereinafter stated. (Ex. 1-P) (Emphasis added).

The lease set forth terms and provisions concerning maintenance, repairs, tire charges, damage to equipment, condition of the equipment on delivery, defects in equipment, compliance with lease, damage by the elements, indemnification against loss, insurance, title, disclosure of location, subletting, acceleration of rentals in event of default, repossession, interest, attorney's fees, etc. These provisions logically apply to the lease during its stated term. The lower court illogically construed the phrase "according to the terms and provisions hereinafter stated" as modifying the verb "terminates." Such a strained construction would, after deleting extraneous words, result in: "Arnold Machinery hereby leases to Utah Excavating until the lessor terminates according to the terms and provisions herein stated." Such a construction would result in the default provisions not being applicable during the stated term of the lease. A logical construction, which would give effect to what any lessor and lessee would have contemplated, is that the phrase "according to the terms and provisions hereinafter stated" modifies the verb "leases " latter construction would, after deleting extraneous language, result in: "Arnold Machinery Company hereby leases to Utah

Excavating according to the terms hereinafter stated." A reasonable construction of the rental agreement is that the express right to terminate the lease in the various situations of default and remedies provided for in such event are not in limitation of the lessor's right to terminate after the minimum period of time of six months, but rather permit the lessor during the minimum period to terminate in the event of such defaults.

If such reasonable construction is given the rental agreement, then the Maryland case relied upon by defendants United Rental Equipment Company vs. Potts and Callahan Contracting Company, 231 Maryland 552, 191 Atlantic 2d 570, 574 is neither controlling nor persuasive, because in that case the Court relied upon the fact that:

The only option given the lessor to terminate the lease is for enumerated causes. This is consistent with an extended period of rental payments to be determined solely by the lessee.

That court reasoned that, if the lessor could not terminate the lease prior to the time at which lease payments would exceed the option to purchase price, then the provision of 70A-1-201 (37) would be applicable. That section provides that a transaction is not a lease, but a sale with the creation of a security interest if the lessee has "the option to become the owner of the property for no additional consideration or for a nom-

inal consideration" as set forth in subsection (b):

An agreement that upon compliance with the terms of the lease the lessee shall become or has the option to become the owner of the property for no additional consideration or for a nominal consideration does make the lease one intended for security.

A proper construction of the lease here is that after six months the lessor could terminate without cause. Consequently, Utah Excavating's lease is not such a lease as there involved.

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