1980

Arnold Machinery Company v. David M. Balls and Richard S. Johns II, Co-Partners, Dba Utah Excavating : Brief of Defendant-Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

BECAUSE UTAH EXCAVATING HAD THE OPTION TO BECOME THE OWNER OF THE EQUIPMENT FOR NO ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATION, THE LEASE WAS INTENDED FOR SECURITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The application of Article 9 of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code (U.C.C.) to leases is set forth by U.C.A. § 70A-9-102(2) which states:

This chapter applies to security interests created by contract including pledge, assignment, chattel mortgage, chattel trust, trust deed, factor's lien, equipment trust, conditional sale, trust receipt, other lien or title retention contract and lease or consignment intended as security.

Also, U.C.A. § 70A-1-201(37) provides:

Whether a lease is intended as security is to be determined by the facts of each case, however, (a) the inclusion of an option to purchase does not of itself make a lease one intended for security, and (b) an agreement that upon compliance with the terms of the lease the lessee shall become or has the option to become the owner of the property for no additional consideration for a nominal consideration does make the lease one intended for security.

In Peco, Inc. v. Hartbauer Tool & Die Co., 500 P.2d 708, 11 U.C.C. Rep. 383 (Oreg. 1972) the court discussed the above quoted provision of the U.C.C. and said:

At first glance the provisions of the above section may be somewhat confusing, probably because they are stated in the inverse order of importance. However, upon a careful reading of the entire section it is clear that the first question to be answered is that posed by clause (b) -- whether the lessee may obtain the property for no additional consideration or for a nominal consideration. If so, the lease is intended for security. If not, it is then necessary to determine "by the facts

of each case" whether the lease is intended as security and, in making that determination, the fact that the lease contains an option to purchase "does not of itself make the lease one intended for security".

The cases construing the above section have uniformly held that if the lessee, upon compliance with the lease, has the option to purchase the property for no additional consideration, or for a nominal consideration, the lease is a security interest as a matter of law.

In the instant case the "Equipment Rental Agreement" (Ex. 1-P) and the "Rental Equipment Purchase Option" (Ex. 2-P) provided that the option could be exercised at any time until termination of the Rental Agreement and that 100% of all rent payments would apply toward purchase.

The termination provisions of the "Equipment Rental Agreement" are as follows:

Arnold Machinery Company, Inc., . . . hereinafter called the lessor, hereby leases to Utah Excavating . . . hereinafter called the lessee, for a minimum period of six months and thereafter until the equipment is returned or until lessor terminates the lease, the equipment hereinafter described, according to the terms and provisions hereinafter stated . . .

1. The rental period shall begin on and include the date of shipment to the lessee and shall end on and include the date of return to the lessor's warehouse or receiving point. If equipment is kept longer than the specified minimum rental period, the rental shall continue at the same rate, with a pro-ration of rentals

on any combination of monthly, weekly or daily rates which is to lessee's advantage.

8. . . . If for any other reason lessee desires to discontinue the use of said machinery or equipment, the only remedy of lessee shall be to return the machinery to lessor and terminate this contract as here and elsewhere provided for.

9. . . . The lessor reserves the right to remove the equipment at lessee's expense from the job at any time when in its opinion the equipment is in danger because of strikes or any other condition.

15. . . . The lessor . . . shall have the privilege of removing said machinery and equipment on 24 hours notice if it is being overloaded or taxed beyond its capacity or in any other manner abused or neglected.

17. Should any of the provisions of this lease be violated by lessee the rental for the entire period herein specified may, at the option of lessor, become forthwith due and payable and the lessor, or its agents may, without notice, enter the premises occupied by lessee without being a trespasser thereon and take possession of and remove said equipment with or without process of law.

Thus, Arnold was given the right to terminate the agreement for certain enumerated causes including Utah Excavating's default, but if there was no default or other cause to terminate the agreement it was to continue. Utah Excavating was given the right to return the equipment and terminate the agreement.

By applying 100% of all the \$3,900 per month rent payments toward the purchase after 36 months \$140,400 would

have been paid, which amount is in excess of the purchase price of \$92,220 plus the option charge at that time of \$41,499, which together total \$133,719 (T. 43). The excess of \$6,681 would be available to cover any repair costs incurred by Arnold and Utah Excavating could become the owner for no additional consideration.

A case which is squarely on point with the instant case is United Rental Equipment Company, Inc. v. Potts and Callahan Contracting Company, Inc., et al., 231 Md. 552, 191 A.2d 570 (1963), in which the court stated:

The following facts are revealed by the record. On August 19, 1960, United Rental Equipment Company, Inc. (United) transferred possession and the right of use of . . . [the equipment] . . . to one Edward Wuensche under a document entitled "Crane Rental Contract" which recited that the compressor and other items of mechanical equipment were leased by United to Wuensche and set forth provisions as to the use, operation and maintenance of the equipment. It was provided that the rental would be \$800 per month for the compressor for a minimum period of one month and that 'after expiration of the minimum term . . . the lessee shall pay . . . the same rental per month . . . until the aforesaid equipment is returned to the lessor' . . .

In the agreement the lessee agreed to pay all sales and use taxes. The lessor reserved the right to terminate the lease at any time if the equipment was being overloaded, abused or neglected, or if it was in danger because of strikes or other conditions, or for violation by the lessee of any provisions of the lease. It was agreed also that eighty-five percent of the rental

of the compressor was to be applied on the specified purchase price thereof of \$14,500.

* * *

We think the agreement was a security interest created by contract . . .

United argues that the lease was only for a term of one month, that neither lessor nor lessee could extend it without the consent of the other at the time and that either could arbitrarily terminate the lease at any time after the expiration of the first month. On the premise the lease was but for one month, it is argued that Wuensche had neither the right nor the option to become a purchaser of the compressor at the expiration of the some 21 months it would take for the application of eighty-five percent of the \$800 monthly rental to the purchase price to aggregate \$14,500.

We do not so read the agreement, we think the parties contemplated the purchase of the compressor by Wuensche if he continued to pay the specified monthly rental and otherwise complied with the lease. The lease says:

After expiration of the minimum term herein set forth, the lessee shall pay to the lessor the same rental per month as hereinabove provided . . . said rental shall start from the date of original shipment to the above designated site and shall continue until the aforesaid equipment is returned to the lessor.

The only option given the lessor to terminate the lease is for enumerated causes. This is consistent with an extended period of rental payments to be determined solely by the lessee.

Similarly in the instant case upon compliance with the terms of the lease Utah Excavating had the option to become

the owner of the equipment for no additional consideration and, thus, the lease was intended for security as a matter of law.

POINT II

FURTHERMORE, BECAUSE UTAH EXCAVATING HAD THE OPTION TO BECOME THE OWNER OF THE EQUIPMENT FOR A NOMINAL CONSIDERATION, THE LEASE WAS INTENDED FOR SECURITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

In FMA Financial Corporation v. Pro-Printers, 590 P.2d 803 (Utah 1979), this Court set out three tests for determining what constitutes nominal consideration under U.C.A. § 70A-1-201(37).

TEST 1. COMPARE THE OPTION PRICE WITH THE ORIGINAL LIST PRICE OR COST OF THE PROPERTY.

The original list price of the property was \$98,000 when Arnold purchased it from the manufacturer in April, 1977, (T. 135), and \$92,220 when Utah Excavating executed its agreement with Arnold on December 30, 1977. (Ex. 2-P). The option price is determined at the time the option is to be exercised as follows: Purchase price (\$92,220) plus purchase option charge ($\$92,220 \times 1-1/4\% \times$ number of months) - 100% of total payments ($\$3,900 \times$ number of months) plus cost of major repairs necessitated by ordinary wear and tear (Ex. 2-P). This would be:

<u>Date</u>	<u>Option Price</u>	<u>% of List Price (\$92,220)</u>	<u>% of List Price at \$98,000</u>
June 30, 1978	\$ 75,736.50	82%	77%
December 30, 1978	59,253.00	64%	60%
March 30, 1978	51,011.25	55%	52%
December 30, 1979	26,286.00	29%	27%
December 30, 1980	(- 6,681.00)	0%	0%

Payments Exceed
Option Price

The option prices listed above do not include the cost of major repairs which were \$736.96 for the first six months and it was estimated that they would be approximately \$3,000 per year although the witness listed several items in that figure which are not major repairs. (T. 297).

"Nominal consideration may be more than a few dollars," Peco, supra at 385. An option price "should only be characterized as substantial, or nominal, when considered in relation to some other amount." Crown Cartridge Corp., 220 F.Supp. 914 (S.D.N.Y. 1962).

After December 30, 1979, which would be more than 24 months after the lease was executed the option price would have been less than 25% of the list price and that percentage would have decreased until 36 months at which time no consideration would have been required to exercise the option.

TEST 2. COMPARE THE OPTION PRICE WITH "SENSIBLE ALTERNATIVES."

The excavator had a useful life of between five and

six years before a rebuild of \$20,000 would extend its life three or four more years. (T. 137-138). Arnold's salesman represented that Utah Excavating was building up an "equity" with each payment. (T. 131). That equity after six months was \$23,400 (6 x \$3,900). For Utah Excavating to forfeit an equity of \$23,400 on a machine that had a remaining useful life of about five years would not be a sensible alternative if there was any way to avoid it. Of course, the amount of the forfeiture increases to \$46,800 after 12 months, \$64,800 after 18 months, and \$93,600 after 24 months. The longer the agreement continued the less sensible it became for Utah Excavating to not exercise the option.

In In Re Royer's Bakery, Inc., 1 U.C.C. Rep. 342 (E.D.Pa. 1963), where 80% of all rentals paid applied to the purchase price the court held:

A provision such as this in the lease readily provides a devise for financing the purchase of equipment. By crediting earlier payments of rent to the purchase price, the lessee is accorded an equity or pecuniary interest in the subject matter of the lease which he may recover at his option.

It would seem therefore, that whenever it can be found that a lease agreement concerning personal property contains provisions the effect of which are to create in the lessee an equity or pecuniary interest in the leased property the parties are deemed as a matter of law to have intended the lease as security. . . .

TEST 3. COMPARE THE OPTION PRICE TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE PROPERTY AT THE TIME THE OPTION IS TO BE EXERCISED.

This is the most relevant test in determining whether the option price is nominal. FMA, supra, at 806.

In Comment, Leases as Security Agreements and the Effect of a Failure to Notify on a Secured Party's Recovery of a Deficiency Judgment: FMA Financial Corp. v. Pro-Printers, 1979 Utah Law Review 567 at 569 it states:

It has been argued that the difference between a true lease and a secured transaction hinges upon whether the lessee acquires an equity of ownership through his rental payments, i.e. does the rent amount 'to a credit against the payment which the lessee must ultimately make in order to acquire title'. In this context an option price which is significantly less than the fair market value of the property at the end of the lease suggests that the 'lessee' has been building up equity through rental payments.

A comparison of the option price with the estimated fair market value of the equipment as Mr. Balls anticipated it would be at the time of executing the lease is as follows:

<u>Date</u>	<u>Fair Market Value</u>	<u>Option Price</u>	<u>% of Fair Market Value</u>
June 30, 1978	\$90,000.00	\$ 75,736.50	84%
December 30, 1978	86,000.00	59,253.00	69%
March 30, 1979	81,000.00	51,011.25	63%
December 30, 1979	78,000.00	26,286.00	34%
December 30, 1980	70,000.00	Payments exceed Option Price	0%

Commentators have suggested that based on an analysis

of the decided cases an option price which is less than 50% or even 80% of the fair market value should be considered nominal. Leary, Leasing and Other Techniques of Financing Equipment Under the U.C.C., 42 Temp. L.Q. 217, 250 (1969) and Peden, The Treatment of Equipment Leases as Security Agreements Under the Uniform Commercial Code, 13 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 110, 144 (1971).

In the instant case the 80% mark is reached shortly after six months and the 50% mark at approximately 18 months. After 36 months Utah Excavating could become the owner of an excavator worth \$70,000 having a useful life of from two to three years for no additional consideration.

The continuation of the agreement and the exercise of the option at 36 months was a very realistic and reasonable alternative. The option charge at that time would have been \$41,499 ($\$92,220 \times 1\text{-}1/4\% \times 36$). Figured on a purchase price of \$92,220 over three years this is the equivalent of 15% interest per year ($\$92,220 \times 15\% \times 3$).

Considering all three tests it is clear that Utah Excavating upon compliance with the terms of the agreement had the option to become the owner of the excavator for a nominal consideration and, therefore, the lease was intended for security as a matter of law.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURTS FINDING THAT BASED ON THE FACTS OF THE CASE THE EQUIPMENT RENTAL AGREEMENT WAS INTENDED AS SECURITY SHOULD BE SUSTAINED ON APPEAL.

In First Western Fidelity v. Gibbons and Reed Co., 27 U.2d 1, 492 P.2d 132 (1971) this court stated:

. . . We survey the evidence in the light favorable to the trial courts findings . . . Where the appellants position is that the trial court erred in refusing to make certain findings essential to its right to recover, and insists that the evidence compel such findings, it is obliged to show that there is credible and uncontradicted evidence which proves those contended facts with such certainty that all reasonable minds must so find. Conversely, if there is any reasonable basis either in the evidence or from the lack of evidence upon which reasonable minds might conclude that they are not so convinced by a preponderance of the evidence, then the findings should not be overturned.

Arnold's primary contention on appeal is that the trial judge was mistaken in finding that the Equipment Rental Agreement could have continued after the six months minimum term and that Arnold neither intended to terminate nor had the right to terminate the agreement so long as Utah Excavating remained current in their payments. Based on the evidence and testimony of the parties the trial judge ruled:

My immediate construction right now is that if the parties remain current in their payments that this lease could have

gone on indefinitely, under the wording of this particular lease, unless they violated one of the provisions hereinafter provided for in the lease. And if they violate those provisions then they have cause or grounds to set it aside. I think that was the intent of the parties. It appears from the testimony that I have heard in this matter thus far. . . . I think you are correct when you state, of course, that the testimony is that they expect to convert it. But I think under the terms of the lease, if that expectation didn't materialize, they could have continued to lease it. (T. 312).

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